

Theatre & Performance Studies Master of Arts Doctor of Philosophy

2023-2024 Academic Year Graduate Program Handbook

INTRODUCTION TO MA/PhD PROGRAMS & HANDBOOK

Graduate study in UB's Department of Theatre & Dance is comprised of Theatre & Performance Studies programs (MA and PhD) and a Dance program (MFA). The Graduate Studies committee, comprised of the core graduate faculty, oversees the curriculum and administration of the program, headed by a Director of Graduate Studies (DGS).

The policies and procedures outlined in this handbook are a program specific supplement to the university's Graduate School policies and procedures (found on The Graduate School website at grad.buffalo.edu), and serve as a resource for both graduate students and their advisors. The policies and requirements listed here are in effect for the entirety of the academic year. The handbook edition that contains the students' university and degree requirements is determined by their academic year of entry. These handbooks contain information on official policies and procedures relating to registration, advising, academic standing, degree requirements, and operational standards. All students should consult both handbooks for departmental and university policies.

The Theatre & Performance Studies programs conform to all <u>Graduate School Policies</u> regarding registration, grading, and degree requirements (e.g., those dictating leaves of absence, course resignation, and course attendance, among others). These are available in their complete listing online, although some material may be repeated here for emphasis. Please be sure that you are familiar with these policies. Students should consult the Office of the Registrar for <u>class schedules</u> and <u>academic calendars</u> (including dates for registration, drop/add periods, and class resignations) for related information.

Every effort has been made to ensure consistency with the policies of UB and the Graduate School. In the event of contradiction with established policies, this handbook may be revised accordingly. Students will be informed via the graduate student listserv of any changes or updates to the handbook.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

SECTION I.	5
Ethical, Professional, & Academic Standards	5
Ethics in Theatre & Performance	5
Academic Integrity	5
Professional Conduct	6
Academic performance and progress	6
Advising	7
Academic Standing	8
Academic Probation	
Program Dismissal	9
SECTION II.	11
MA Theatre & Performance Studies	11
MA Schedule & Requirements	11
Program Requirements	12
MA Thesis / Thesis Project Guidelines	13
Criteria for Successful Thesis Completion	13
Scholarly Thesis	14
Thesis Project	14
Thesis Process	15
Deadlines	
Graduation Checklist	19
Section III.	20
PhD. Theatre & Performance Studies	20
Program Requirements	21
Coursework	21
Core Seminars (15 credits)	21
Additional Seminars (51 credits)	22
PhD. DISSERTATION GUIDELINES	27
Dissertation Preparation and Defense	28
Graduation Checklist	30
Section IV.	32
Operational Procedures & Information	32
OUTSIDE PRODUCTIONS/ACTIVITY	33
Appendix A.	35
Thesis & Dissertation Deadlines	35

September 1 Conferral	35
February 1 Conferral	
June 15 Conferral	37
Appendix B.	38
MA CURRICULUM CHECKLIST	38
Appendix C.	41
PhD. CURRICULUM CHECKLIST	41

Table of Contents

SECTION I.

ETHICAL, PROFESSIONAL, & ACADEMIC STANDARDS

All graduate programs in Theatre & Performance Studies abide by the highest standards of ethical practices, academic integrity, research responsibility, and professional conduct. Students are expected to adhere to the standards and policies identified below and may be dismissed by the Director of Graduate Studies for any violation thereof.

Ethics in Theatre & Performance

Training and study in theatre and dance occasionally involve material that can be personally disturbing, even offensive. This includes issues of gender, race, sexuality, religion, and various other moral concerns. Trust is an essential aspect of all learning environments, especially environments requiring experiential modes of instruction.

Graduate programs in Theatre & Performance Studies follow the Ethics Task Force Report distributed by the Association for Theatre in Higher Education (1997). We are committed to ensuring an environment of mutual respect, diversity, and artistic and academic freedom in all domains of research, scholarship, and practice. Students should be familiar with these guidelines and follow them in all of their collaborative work, both with faculty, and with other students at the undergraduate and graduate levels. Students are also encouraged to report potential violations of these ethical policies to faculty members and to the Director of Graduate Study (DGS). If neither departmental faculty nor the DGS seem appropriate for the circumstances, students may wish to seek advice from those outside the department, particularly in the Office of the Associate Dean for Graduate Education.

Coursework in theatre and dance is also a physical endeavor, and we hold to a standard of affirmative consent for physical contact. Students may withhold or withdraw consent for physical touch at any time, and at no point should any student submit to unwanted touch or physical engagement from peers, guests, or faculty.

In cases involving emotional distress or other areas of physical, mental, or emotional concern, students may wish to consult UB's <u>Student Wellness Team</u>. This office offers <u>Health Services</u>, <u>Counseling Services</u>, and <u>Wellness Education Services</u>.

Academic Integrity

Absolute integrity is expected of every member of the UB community in all academic matters. When a student submits any work for academic credit, they make an implicit claim that the work is wholly their own, done without the assistance of any person or source not explicitly noted, and that the work has not previously been submitted for academic credit in any other area, unless previously approved by the relevant instructor or advisor.

The MA in Theatre & Performance Studies follows the <u>UB Graduate School's academic integrity policy and procedures.</u> These apply to all work conducted while a student in the program including coursework, exams, thesis writing, creative projects, external performances, and any affiliated performance or production work. All students are expected to be familiar with and abide by the University's academic integrity policies. Violations of these policies may result in dismissal from the program.

Professional Conduct

As a student enrolled in the Theatre & Performance Studies programs, you will represent the program, department, and university in all of your professional engagements. It is expected that all students will adhere to standard professional conduct in both creative and academic work.

ACADEMIC PERFORMANCE AND PROGRESS

Student Records and Plans of Study

The student academic file is a record of the student's complete course of study. This record includes the Curriculum Checklist and plan of study, registration forms, qualifying exam results, thesis materials, assistantship paperwork, and other materials related to the student's matriculation. Original materials remain in the student's permanent file in the Department of Theatre & Dance, but the student and advisor may retain copies.

Each student, in consultation with their advisor, their program head, and the Director of Graduate Studies, develops their individual course of study. This plan includes projected courses, the projected length of time to complete the degree, and their capstone project. This plan is intended to guarantee the integrity of a student's matriculation, but it is not a binding agreement and may be changed with the consent of the student, their advisor, and their program head. Plans are generated during the first semester and should be updated every semester during the advising period. The original plan of study should be on file by the end of the first semester.

MA students enrolled full time are expected to complete the program 12-18 months following matriculation, barring extraordinary circumstances. Students who have not completed their degree after 24 months of continuous enrollment without extenuating circumstances may be asked to leave the program. All degree requirements must be completed within 36 months of beginning the MA program. Students who enroll as Non-Degree Students will have 24 months from the date of their matriculation in the MA. Barring extenuating circumstances, any student who has not completed the program within 36 months will be dismissed from the program. Requests for time extensions must be submitted in writing to the Director of Graduate Studies (and copied to the Graduate Program Administrator) at least 1 month prior to the dismissal deadline. These extensions are available for up to 48 months (4 years) total and cannot be extended further as per the policies of the UB Graduate School.

Transfer Courses

Transfer courses counted toward a previous degree from another regionally accredited graduate school is limited to three (3) credits for a Master's degree and thirty (30) for a PhD. Any graduate work transferred from another institution must have commenced not more than ten years prior to the completion of the degree for the credits to be applicable to the graduate degree. The applicability of course work toward a plan of study is determined by the appropriate area head in conjunction with the director of graduate studies.

Full Time Student Course Load

Twelve (12) credit hours is defined as a full-time load for Master's students who are not receiving university assistantship or fellowship. Nine (9) credit hours is defined as full-time for PhD students who are receiving a Teaching Assistantship from the university.

Students working on their thesis or dissertation who are enrolling in less than the requisite credit hours per semester may submit a **Certification of Full Time Status** form to the Graduate School to maintain full time status through conferral.

Continuous Registration Requirement

Graduate students are required to maintain continuous registration from matriculation through conferral during the standard academic year (not including summer and winter intersessions). If a graduate student does not maintain continuous registration without filing for a Leave of Absence, this will result in program dismissal. Students needing to take time away from their program may request a Leave of Absence for one or two semesters, which will preserve your place in the program and your academic standing at the time of leave.

Advising

Upon acceptance to the program, each student is assigned an interim advisor to assist with enrollment in fall and spring courses and to devise a plan for coursework. By the end of the fall term, each MA student should select a major advisor and begin forming a thesis committee. (The major advisor is sometimes referred to as a thesis committee chair in the Grad School, but this is the same position.) Students should first approach a desired faculty member to serve as the major advisor. It is helpful if the student has a preliminary idea for the thesis project. Final assignment of the major advisor is usually done in consultation with graduate faculty and approved by the Director of Graduate Studies to ensure that each student is optimally mentored. Students should consult with their initial advisors (appointed upon acceptance to the program) and the DGS in this process.

Semester Reviews

MA students are required to submit written academic progress reviews to their advisor at the conclusion of each semester. PhD students are required to submit annual reviews to their advisor at the end of each year.

Registration Procedures

Students are required to meet with their advisor once a semester to review curricular progress and approve of course loads. Following advisement, students must submit their approved registration form to the Graduate Program Administrator for enrollment in departmental classes. Enrollment in courses outside the department is the responsibility of each student, including obtaining instructor permission as needed. This may require liaising with other departments as the Graduate Program Administrator cannot enroll Theatre & Dance students in courses outside of the department.

It is the student's responsibility to set up advising appointments, communicate registration needs to the faculty and Program Administrator in a timely fashion, and to confirm accurate enrollment in their HUB Student Center prior to the start of the semester. This includes verifying accurate courses, sections, and credit amounts.

Students who do not schedule advising appointments and register by the end of the semester are not guaranteed placement in courses of their choice, which may result in delay in progress toward degree.

Academic Standing

Continuation in the Department of Theatre & Dance graduate programs is contingent on satisfactory progress toward degree completion, academic performance, and general attitude and conduct as displayed in the ability to work with peers and faculty, including timely correspondence and attendance at all mandatory meetings and advisory sessions. In order to remain in good standing, students must:

- 1. Maintain a minimum 3.0 overall grade point average
- 2. Achieve a grade of "B" or better in all required coursework
- 3. Complete all required academic reviews and meet with their advisor no less than one time per semester
- 4. Comply with all departmental and university policies
- 5. Make sufficient academic progress and growth in enrolled program
 - 1. MA students enrolled full time are expected to complete the program 12-18 months following matriculation, barring extraordinary circumstances.
 - 2. PhD students enrolled full time are expected to complete the program 5 years following matriculation, barring extraordinary circumstances.

Academic Probation

Students who fail to meet the minimum academic standards will be placed on probation for the subsequent semester in which they fail to meet these requirements. Steps necessary to remove the

probation status will be discussed with the student at the time they are notified of probationary status. In extreme instances, students may be dismissed from the department immediately.

Students may receive a warning during the semester if they fail to maintain deadlines, have excessive absences or are not meeting minimum requirements at midterm grades, fail to respond to departmental and advisor communications, or are deemed as in danger of falling below academic standards. Warnings may be verbal or written. If concerns are not addressed by the end of the semester, students will be placed on probation for the following semester.

Probationary notification will specify remedial steps and a corresponding schedule to which a student must adhere in order to avoid dismissal. In addition to consultation with the advisor/thesis chair, the DGS may convene an academic review with the student and advisor to identify obstacles to progress and to devise a plan for improved pace and productivity.

At the end of the probation semester, students are required to meet with their advisor and program head to review progress and timeline as established in the probation letter. Following this review, students may be returned to good academic standing, continue on probation if adequate progress is not made, or be dismissed from the program if student fails to address concerns or make progress.

Steps to address academic concerns may include, but are not limited to:

- **C+ or C in a course:** The student must repeat the course or another that fulfills the requirement. The student must consult with the advisor/DGS about their performance and remedial strategies. Others may attend at the discretion of the advisor/chair. A summary of the meeting including any corrective actions must be sent to the Director of Graduate Studies (DGS) for inclusion in the student file. Please note that receiving this grade may delay graduation.
- **D, F, or U in a course**: The student must repeat the course or another that fulfills the requirement. The Director of Graduate Study may request an academic review with the student, advisor/chair, and others at the discretion of the advisor/chair and DGS. At the review, specific remedial steps and a corresponding timeline will be established. These consensual terms will be written up by the DGS, sent to all attendees, and saved in the student file.
- **Below 3.0 overall GPA:** The student is placed on academic probation. The DGS will convene an academic review with the student, advisor/chair, and others at the discretion of the advisor/chair or DGS. At the review, specific corrective actions and a corresponding timeline needed to lift the probationary status will be established. These consensual terms will be written up by the Program Director, sent to all attendees, and saved in the student file.

The Director of Graduate Studies may take additional action if a student does not respond to requests for an academic review; appear at a scheduled academic review; or uphold terms devised at the review. Such action includes but is not limited to one or more of the following: placement on academic probation; withdrawal of funding support; restriction from course registration; or program dismissal.

Program Dismissal

The Director of Graduate Studies may dismiss from the program any student who does not uphold ethical, professional, or academic standards. This includes but is not limited to: ethical or professional misconduct; failure to meet minimum academic standards; and failure to progress. In these cases,

students will be notified when in jeopardy of program dismissal. The student will have an opportunity, if reasonable and feasible, to redress the concern or to present claims on their behalf.

In addition to circumstances under which the DGS may take explicit action to prompt program dismissal, students may also be effectively dismissed if they do not maintain continuous registration or if they do not meet <u>Graduate School time limits</u> (i.e., degree conferral within four years after beginning MA coursework). In such cases, a student will not receive advance notice of dismissal risk. Students have the right to petition for retroactive registration and time extensions; however, these will be granted at the discretion of the DGS and only under extenuating circumstances.

As per <u>Graduate School guidelines</u> pertaining to dismissal, students who are dismissed on academic grounds (i.e., violations of academic integrity, substandard performance, failure to progress, failure to maintain continuous registration, or exceeding Graduate School time limits for degree completion) will have a service indicator placed on their record that will prevent them from future registration. If a student wishes to reapply to the same program or another at the university, they must submit a formal request for reinstatement.

SECTION II.

MA THEATRE & PERFORMANCE STUDIES

Program Description

The **MA degree program** in Theatre & Performance Studies at the University at Buffalo is a researchoriented program integrating theatre studies and performance practice. The aims of this program are three-fold:

- Prepare students for continued graduate work in MFA and PhD programs;
- Train theatre and performance faculty capable of integrating research, theory, and performance practice at the highest levels; and
- Produce scholar-artists capable of advancing the field regionally, nationally, and internationally through an intellectually rigorous program that includes practice-based performance scholarship.

Note for Non-Degree Students

Many of the policies contained herein will apply to Non-Degree Students in Theatre & Performance Studies. The sections on the MA requirements and Thesis Guidelines may serve as useful instructions for your future course of study, should a student apply to the MA.

Non-degree students are permitted to take up to 12 credits before applying to the MA program. It is expected that students will enroll in 3-6 credits per semester until deciding to apply to the program. All non-degree students will need to submit a full application by the posted deadlines in order to receive consideration for admittance to the program.

Enrollment as a non-degree student is not a guarantee of admittance to the MA.

MA SCHEDULE & REQUIREMENTS

This section describes the MA in Theatre & Performance Studies schedule and requirements. Details for the thesis requirements are provided in the following **MA Thesis Guidelines**.

The MA in Theatre & Performance Studies requires:

- A minimum 30 credits (including 6-credit thesis)
- A minimum GPA of 3.0
 - o Master's Thesis OR Master's Project

- Each MA student will be assigned an academic advisor before the first semester. The academic advisor will serve as the thesis advisor.
- A minimum of two academic semesters (excluding summers) in residency for graduate work at UB.
- o Full time students must register for a minimum of twelve (12) credit hours per semester.
- o Students who are enrolled as full time are required to carry health insurance as a condition of enrollment. Health insurance is available for students who enroll part time.

Program Requirements

Please see full MA Curriculum Checklist in Appendix

1. Core Seminars	15 credits
TH 610: Performance Research	3 credits
TH620: Performance Scholarship (if pursuing a thesis paper)	3 credits
OR an additional graduate level production seminar	
(if pursuing a thesis project)	
TH670: Performance Historiography	3 credits
TH 540: Graduate Studio OR DAC582: Embodied Research	3 credits
DAC513: Graduate Professionalization Seminar	3 credits
2. Additional Seminars	9 credits
3. Master's Thesis (TH600 or TH601)	6 credits
Total	30 credits

Recommended Course Sequence

Semester 1

- TH 610: Performance Research (3 cr.)
- DAC513: Graduate Professionalization Seminar (3 cr.)
- Additional Seminar (3 cr.)
- Additional Seminar (3 cr.)

Semester 2

• TH 670: Performance Historiography

- TH620: Performance Scholarship OR Advanced Production seminar
- TH 540: Graduate Studio OR DAC582: Embodied Research
- Abstract proposal
- Select Thesis Committee Member
- File Department Conferral Application forms

Semesters 3-4

- TH 600 or TH 601 (6 cr.)
- Complete Thesis or Thesis Project
- Oral Defense
- Degree Conferral

MA THESIS / THESIS PROJECT GUIDELINES

This section describes the MA Thesis and the MA Thesis Project. The thesis/thesis project serves as the culminating work from a student's course of graduate study in Theatre & Performance Studies, and demonstrates their independent research, writing, and/or creative activity. The written portion of the thesis or project should articulate comprehensive knowledge in the core areas of study—research methods; literature, theory, and criticism; performance practice; and history—based on original research and argument in the student's area of specialization.

After completion of course work, students register for 6 credits of MA Thesis Guidance (TH 600) or MA Thesis Project Guidance (TH 601) to be completed in the following semester (6 credits), or extended the following two semesters (3 credits each).

An MA Thesis or Thesis Project should demonstrate the following:

- Formulation of an original research question
- Reading and documentation of the existing literature
- Convincing argumentation, with appropriate examples
- Use of clear, well-constructed prose

Criteria for Successful Thesis Completion

To complete the MA, students either complete a **scholarly thesis** or a **thesis project**. In both instances, the student will submit a final work to be read (or viewed, as necessary) and approved by a committee of graduate faculty including the major advisor and a thesis committee comprised of 1-2 other faculty members, one of whom may come from outside the department.

Scholarly Thesis

The thesis paper is recommended for students intending to pursue the PhD or other doctoral programs (either at UB or elsewhere). This is a paper of modest length (approximately 30-50 pages) that demonstrates comprehensive knowledge in the student's area of specialization and presents an original argument on that subject as related to theatre and performance studies.

Thesis Project

The MA Thesis Project is an original creative work in the student's area of specialization (e.g., directing, acting, design, playwriting, intermedia performance, dance theatre, among others). The thesis project should be substantial (e.g., original script; direction of a full-length play, evening of solo performance) and is accompanied by a critical text (approximately 20-30 pages) that provides the critical and methodological context for the work. Because every project is different, the specific requirements for the project will be determined in consultation with the major advisor/chair and other members of the graduate faculty. It is not expected that staged works will be fully designed or staged in a particular venue. Students should be aware of financial limitations and other resources such as space. Students are responsible for all logistics related to production, including venue, production rights, and other potential practicalities for production.

Thesis Project Presentation

It is expected that all members of a Thesis Project Committee will attend at least one public performance or presentation of the thesis showing. In the event that a member of the Thesis Committee is unable to attend the Thesis Project, the faculty member and student may agree *in advance* on a suitable form of documentation (e.g., video recording of performance). In the event that a faculty member cannot attend a Thesis Project presentation and no form of documentation is deemed adequate by either the student or faculty member, then that committee member will be replaced by another member of the graduate faculty most suitable to the project. This will necessitate a re-filling of the **M-Form** and may delay degree conferral depending on the timing. To avoid such difficulties, students should confirm the dates of any performances or public presentations with all members of the thesis committee at the earliest possible date and no later than **6 weeks in advance** of the presentation. If the presentation will be scheduled for the summer, when many faculty are traveling, then arrangements for documentation and attendance should be confirmed by the end of the spring term. When the dates of presentation are confirmed, invitations to attend should be sent to all members of the thesis committee, the Director of Graduate Studies, and any other relevant members of the faculty.

While we are happy to promote the event via the departmental media outlets, the student is solely responsible for acquiring a venue, securing rights (if applicable), publicity, promotion, and assuming any other legal or logistical responsibilities for a public performance or presentation of the thesis project. Neither the thesis chair, committee members, DGS, Graduate Program Administrator, nor any member of the department may be held either responsible or legally liable for the student's presentation off campus. As noted in the opening section on **Ethics and Professional Conduct**, students working off campus are expected to follow all legal, ethical, and professional guidelines including but not limited to the use of

scripts and property rights (e.g., securing the appropriate rights to produce an existing work), ethical interactions with performers (including laws governing use of Equity actors and other union performers), the legal use of spaces and venues, and responsible consideration for audience members (e.g., including appropriate warnings regarding effects that may physically affect audience members, content inappropriate for all audiences, and the general well-being of spectators).

Thesis Process

The MA in Theatre & Performance Studies is intended to be completed in three semesters. Students complete two semesters of coursework during the fall and spring semesters, followed by a Masters Thesis (TH 600) or Masters Thesis Project (TH 601). If a student desires to take TH 600 or TH 601 over more than one semester, the course may be repeated for credit.

Students must maintain continuous enrollment to remain in good standing. For MA students completing their thesis in the fall after the completion of coursework, it is not necessary to enroll in summer thesis credits.

Thesis Committee

MA students are assigned advisors upon admittance to the program; these advisors will serve as the chairs of thesis projects and papers. The MA student may select at minimum one additional member for their thesis committee, with a maximum of three committee members total. All committee members must be members of the Graduate Faculty at UB in the Department of Theatre & Dance.

Once the members of a thesis committee are approved, any changes to the committee must be approved in writing by the student's major advisor and the DGS. The committee is confirmed in the Department Conferral Form (DCA).

Proposal and Abstract

In consultation with their advisor, each student should develop a preliminary thesis abstract (approximately 250 words) by the conclusion of the spring term. A final abstract of the thesis will be included with the final submission of the manuscript to the Graduate School. This proposal abstract must be approved by the advisor/chair before the student enrolls in TH 600 or TH 601. The proposal applies to both the MA Thesis and MA Thesis Project.

The purpose of the abstract is to define the research question for the student and the committee and to describe the anticipated outcomes for the thesis work. If the student is proposing a paper, then a preliminary thesis, critical context, and area of inquiry should be clearly defined. Most simply, the abstract clearly defines the scope of the thesis work, the anticipated outcomes, and the expectations. It is important that both student and committee members understand and agree to the thesis as defined in the abstract to avoid misunderstandings and miscommunications in the future. The abstract should be complete and approved prior to filing the Department Conferral Application (DCA).

Department Conferral Application (DCA)

DCA form is due to the Graduate Administrator by the first day of the final semester.

MA students will complete an DCA form in before the beginning of their final semester. Students must have finalized their Thesis Committee and submitted a final project proposal to their thesis advisor prior to submitting the DCA. The DCA requires that students specify all courses and the approved concept for their MA Thesis / Thesis Project (i.e., thesis abstract). Adjustments or changes to the DCA require approval by the Director of Graduate Studies.

- Copy of the unofficial UB transcript;
- Course syllabi for every course whose title does not clearly indicate the course's relationship to the Theatre & Performance requirements, or which is from another department;
- Copies of any approved graduate petitions for undergraduate courses taken for graduate credit;
- Copies of syllabi and forms for any independent and directed studies courses without an official course description.

Deadlines

Please check The Graduate School website at grad.buffalo.edu to verify current deadlines. DCAs that aren't submitted by the below deadlines will automatically be moved to the next conferral date.

Students are responsible for collecting signatures from their major advisor and committee members before submitting to the department for review. Please plan adequate time to acquire the necessary signatures, as some of these deadlines fall when faculty are off-contract. Advance planning is vital to timely submission of your materials.

Expected Conferral Date	September 1	February 1	June 1
Date to submit to Department:	June 1	September 1	February 1
Completed DCA with all required signatures and attachments due to Graduate School		October 1	March 1

Formatting

MA Thesis and Thesis Project should follow conventions and formats consistent with the discipline and agreed to by the student and the major advisor/chair. Generally, MLA or Chicago Manual of Style endnote citations are preferred. Specific guidelines from the UB Graduate School are outlined in the <u>Guidelines for Electronic Thesis/Dissertation Preparation and Submission</u>.

While **preparing the thesis**, a student should:

- Refer to the Graduate School's <u>General Graduate Degree Requirements</u> to ensure eligibility for degree conferral.
- Familiarize themself with the Graduate School's <u>Guidelines for Electronic Thesis/Dissertation</u>

 <u>Preparation and Submission</u>. It provides details regarding the thesis's required format (e.g., reference styles, font, pagination), applicable copyright policies, and steps for final submission.
- Recall that the expectations and consequences outlined in this document under Academic
 Integrity. Any violation of these policies may result in immediate dismissal from the
 program.
- Consult periodically with their committee as per the expectations set forth at the proposal defense.
- Set a mutually convenient defense date once the committee agrees there is sufficient evidence
 that the thesis is nearing completion and that it will meet standards of accuracy, clarity,
 depth, creativity, and rigor.
- Submit a full and polished final version to the committee at least two weeks in advance of the
 defense.
- Inform the Director of Graduate Studies and the Graduate Program Administrator of the defense time and location.

Oral Defense

A public oral defense of the thesis is required for all students who complete a master's thesis or project. The oral defense is attended by the candidate's major advisor, thesis committee, and members of departmental faculty (as agreed to by the candidate and major advisor). The candidate has the prerogative to open the thesis defense to a larger audience, but this is not required.

The oral defense consists of a brief presentation by the student followed by questions and comments from the committee. Alternative formats may be allowed at the discretion of the thesis advisor/chair and in consultation with the committee members. The purpose of this defense is not, as the name may imply, to challenge the candidate's work, but to allow for an open review of the process. The terms set forth in the abstract should appropriately outline the goals for the project and set the parameters for the defense. Did the research unfold as anticipated? Were there new, unforeseen revelations or complications? This is a discussion to explore the various aspects of the project and to understand the thesis or project as a process.

After the question and comment period, the committee confers privately to reach a determination on the status of the thesis. The major advisor notes all feedback and recommendations and is responsible for

providing the student with a written summary thereof following the defense. The student is then invited to rejoin the committee and is informed of the outcome, which may include:

- **Unconditional Pass.** No revisions needed. Committee members sign and submit the Multipurpose Form (M-Form) to the Director of Graduate Studies. The student may proceed to the final steps for MA conferral.
- Conditional Pass. The thesis is passed contingent upon adequate revision. Committee
 members sign the M-Form. The student must make required revisions and obtain the
 approval of all committee members. The chair signs the M-Form again to attest that revisions
 have been approved by all committee members. Once the M-Form is received by the DGS,
 the student may proceed to the final steps required for degree conferral.
- **Determination Postponed:** pending revision. Any committee member who feels that extensive revisions are required and that the thesis is not passable—even on a contingent basis—in its current form may decline to sign the M-Form. In this case, the student must make revisions and submit these to the abstaining committee member(s) to obtain approval. Once the M-Form has been signed by all committee members and all final revisions have been accepted, the student may proceed to the final steps required by the Graduate School for degree conferral.
- **Determination Postponed:** pending revision & re-defense. If the thesis and defense are considered inadequate, the committee may offer the student an opportunity to make substantial revisions and redefend the thesis. In such cases, a strict schedule for revision and redefense must be established and communicated to the student. If the student does not meet the deadline for redefense or is not passed upon redefense, the student will be dismissed from the MA Program.
- **Unconditional Fail.** If the committee reaches the unanimous conclusion that the thesis's flaws are unresolvable and that the student's work is without merit, the thesis is considered failed and the student will be dismissed from the MA Program. There will be no opportunity for revision.

Multi-Purpose Form (M-Form)

The M-Form, which must be signed by the thesis committee members, certifies completion of all degree requirements. It serves as the master control document ensuring a student's compliance with THD and the UB Graduate School requirements. Students should meet with their thesis committee prior to the M-form submission date. Also, students should meet with the Graduate Program Administrator well ahead of time to ensure that courses, thesis/project, and all paperwork are in order by the deadline.

M-Forms should be downloaded from The Graduate School website (grad.buffalo.edu) prior to the student's oral defense in order to guarantee students have the most up-to-date form. Please double check that you have downloaded the correct M-Form for your capstone. There are separate forms for a Masters' Thesis and a Masters' Project. Utilizing the incorrect form will delay your degree conferral.

Graduation Checklist

For candidates completing a Masters' Thesis: An oral defense of the thesis must be authorized and held (see above). To graduate, the following must be on file in the Graduate School by the prescribed deadlines:

- Approved Department Conferral Application (with all necessary attachments, including original transcripts)
- M-Form (post oral defense)
- Electronic submission of the master's thesis

For candidates completing a Masters' Project, the following must be on file in the Graduate School by prescribed deadlines prior to degree conferral:

- Approved Department Conferral Application (with all necessary attachments, including original transcripts)
- M-Form
- Brief written summary of project completed (normally no more than 150 words)

In both instances, the Graduate School will verify satisfactory completion of all courses to be applied toward the degree.

Degree Conferral

The Graduate School confers degrees three times per year: February 1; June 1; and September 1. Refer to the Graduate School's details on <u>degree conferral deadlines and requirements</u> (also noted above under **DCA**). For September conferral, all materials (including defense) must be submitted by the Friday before classes begin in the fall term.

Participation in Commencement

Each May, the College of Arts & Sciences holds a commencement ceremony to acknowledge graduating students. This is only a ceremonial event; it is neither equivalent to degree conferral nor is participation required (though it can be very meaningful). Students who pass the oral defense at least two weeks before the graduate commencement date may participate in commencement even if revisions are not complete. Otherwise, students must wait until the next academic year's ceremony.

SECTION III.

PHD. THEATRE & PERFORMANCE STUDIES

Program Description

The **PhD degree program** in Theatre & Performance Studies at the University at Buffalo is a research-oriented program integrating theatre studies and performance practice. The primary aim of this program is to train theatre & performance faculty capable of integrating research, theory, and performance practice at the highest levels, scholar-artists capable of advancing the field regionally, nationally, and internationally through an intellectually rigorous program that includes practice-based performance scholarship.

This section describes the PhD in Theatre & Performance Studies schedule and requirements. Details for the dissertation are provided in the following **PhD Dissertation Guidelines**. All guidelines here are consistent with the policies articulated by the Graduate School in the <u>PhD Candidate Requirements</u>.

The PhD in Theatre & Performance requires:

- A minimum of 72 credits (including up to 30 transfer credits from an MA/MFA)
- A minimum GPA of 3.0
- Proficiency in a language other than English
- Qualifying Exams (Written and Oral)
- Dissertation
- Defense of Dissertation
- Completion of Responsible Conduct of Research Course
- Completion of Doctoral Degree Recipients Survey
- A minimum of four (4) years of residency for students receiving a Teaching Assistantship
- Full time students receiving a teaching assistantship must register for nine (9) credits per semester unless working on their dissertation.

Applicants to the PhD must have completed either an MA or MFA (including thesis) at another university, or coursework in an MA program, including Theatre & Performance Studies, at UB. Students applying to the PhD from a UB MA program will submit an application, three letters of recommendation, a 1-2 page statement of purpose, and a creative work sample (as noted above). Prior TOEFL scores may be submitted from up to two years prior. Students entering the PhD from an existing MA program at UB may elect to complete their MA thesis during their first year of PhD coursework. All PhD students must have completed the MA, including thesis, by the end of their first year of doctoral coursework.

With the letter of acceptance to the program, students will be provided an initial advisor (see also **Faculty & Administrative Roles**). This advisor will assist with selecting courses for the fall and planning a coherent sequence of courses for the year. Courses should be selected in coordination with the **PhD Curriculum Checklist**. During their coursework, students will select a major advisor who will serve as the chair of the student's dissertation committee and additional committee members. This selection will

be made in consultation with graduate faculty and must be approved by the Director of Graduate Studies (DGS) by the second week of the last semester of coursework.

Program Requirements

Core Seminars	15 credits
TH 610: Performance Research	3 credits
TH620: Performance Scholarship	3 credits
TH670: Performance Historiography	3 credits
TH 540: Graduate Studio	3 credits
DAC513: Graduate Professionalization Seminar	3 credits

 Additional Graduate Seminars (may be partially fulfilled by approved transfer work; maximum of 6 credits outside of department)

2. Language Requirement o credits

3. Qualifying Examination **2 credits**TH599: Independent Study in Supervised Reading, 1 cr. rpt.

4. Dissertation Guidance 4 credits

Total 72 credits

COURSEWORK

Core Seminars (15 credits)

To provide a consistent grounding in the methodologies of theatre and performance studies literature, history, theory, and criticism, students are required to take five core seminars in the department. If students have not enrolled in the MA in Theatre at UB, they must take **TH 610 Performance Research**. Students who have completed either this course at UB or an equivalent course at another institution may select another graduate seminar in the department, in consultation with their initial advisor. This foundational course establishes a cohort among the department's graduate students, linking both the MA class, PhD students, and MFA students, as well as offering students outside the department the opportunity to explore performance research methods.

TH 620 Performance Scholarship is a grad-only seminar concentrating on the field of contemporary scholarship in theatre & performance studies. Building on the foundation of research skills from TH 610,

students learn how current scholars translate their research into original contributions to the fields of theatre and performance studies. Students work toward the development of a sustained argument (e.g., one that will eventually become the basis for book-length publication), integration of critical theory and performance practice, and advanced writing practice in anticipation of sustained scholarly productivity in the future. Doctoral students will also focus on developing the literacies required to shape their exam lists. Doctoral students should enroll in this course in their fourth semester.

TH670 Performance Historiography

This course introduces students to historical methods in performance research, with an emphasis on historiographical thinking across theatre, dance, and performance studies – the *how* of history. Students learn how to contextualize and situate sources within their historical and cultural frameworks. Some basic questions to be addressed are: what are the historian's methodologies, critical and otherwise, that may be used to conduct research in the fields of theatre and performance studies? What assumptions or interpretations are made in the process of doing performance history? How does one decide what matters in an archive? How does archival or primary document research become evidence for an argument or thesis? Course instruction rotates amongst graduate faculty and thus emphases beyond the general scope of performance historiography covered in the course will also shift with faculty specialization.

TH540 Graduate Studio

This weekly studio course is taught by a member of the graduate faculty and is designed to give all MA and PhD students in the program a practical outlet for performance theory studied in other courses. Based on a Practice-as-Research model, this studio course focuses on guided projects in the first semester and thereafter facilitates student-initiated collaborative work, experimentation, and critique of original performance-based projects (including work in the areas of design, directing, intermedial theatre, dance, acting, etc.). This session may also include work and discussion with guest artists and provides students the opportunity to present their work to the university community.

DAC513 Graduate Professionalization Seminar

All incoming MA, MFA, and PhD students take this course in their first semester, forming a cohort across departmental areas. Through this introductory professionalization course, students gain an overview of theatre, performance, and dance professions, including relevant organizations, conferences, journals, and festivals for their individual interests. Students gain literacy in different forms of writing about performance, including popular and scholarly criticism, as well as different forms of writing that are part of professional activity, such as grant and fellowship applications and conference abstracts. Students also are introduced to UB's research, teaching, and wellness services and support.

Additional Seminars (51 credits)

After transferring MA/MFA credits (max. 30), most PhD students will have seven additional graduate seminars to take in addition to their five core seminars. Courses should be chosen to reinforce an

individual student's interests and research agenda, as well as exposure to areas not previously covered in their education. A maximum of 6 credits may be taken outside the department. All courses are selected in consultation with the major advisor. It is expected that PhD students complete 9 credits per semester in their first two years of the program.

Independent Study for PhD course credit

Course content may not duplicate an existing and available course at the university. No more than six independent study credits may be applied to the degree; no more than three of these may be taken within the Department of Theatre & Dance.

A student must arrange the independent study with the desired faculty supervisor (who must have a doctorate) including specific expectations for time commitments, supervisory meetings, and learning outcomes. One credit is roughly equivalent to three hours per week.

Based on terms negotiated with the major advisor, the student completes the Independent Study Form for review and approval by their advisor and the DGS. If approved, the Graduate Program Administrator will register the student for the independent study.

Transfer of MA Course Credit

Students accepted into the PhD from the Department of Theatre & Dance MA program will automatically transfer 24 credits of coursework toward the PhD requirement of 72 credits. Students applying to the PhD with MA coursework from another program will need to have completed the MA (including thesis) prior to enrollment in the PhD. These students may transfer up to 30 credit hours from prior coursework.

Language Requirement (o Credits)

All doctoral students must demonstrate competency (reading knowledge) in one non-English language. Also acceptable to meet this requirement is competency in American Sign Language (ASL) and/or computational programming languages. The language requirement should be directly related to the student's research interests and selected in consultation with the major advisor. If students enter the program without meeting this requirement, they may take additional courses in the language departments to fulfill the requirement. Courses taken to fulfill the requirement do not count toward the total credits required for the PhD. It is highly recommended that this requirement be met in the first year of coursework, or during the winter and/or summer sessions.

Students may satisfy the language requirement through one of the following options:

- 1. A written exam that includes the successful translation of a provided passage in the chosen language. This option requires the arranging of a formal exam administered through a relevent department, coordinated with faculty conversant in the chosen language.
- 2. Successful completion of an approved course sequence in the language of the students' choice.
- 3. Translation of a passage in the given language that equals either 5 pages of a scholarly or theoretical article or 15 pages of a play. The chosen passage must receive approval from your

major advisor, and should include a compelling and creditable argument for selection. Additionally, you must arrange an appropriate evaluator who can review the work upon completion. Option 3 is a long term, take-home assignment that must be completed and reviewed prior to beginning your comprehensive exams.

Your choice of completion must be decided in consultation with your advisor, and with their approval. Advisors must sign off on completion of the language requirement.

Application to Candidacy (ATC)

The ATC form requires that students specify courses as well as the finalized concept of the dissertation along with dissertation chair and committee members. Later adjustments or changes require approval by the graduate school—by petition. The ATC should be completed by the end of the sixth semester of coursework, prior to beginning work on your dissertation. If the student has not completed their qualifying exams by this time, the anticipated date of exams should be indicated and must occur within one semester of ATC approval.

The ATC must include the following attachments:

- Copy of the unofficial UB transcript;
- Course syllabi for every course whose title does not clearly indicate the course's relationship to the Theatre & Performance Studies requirements, or which is from another department;
- Copies of any approved graduate petitions for undergraduate courses taken for graduate credit;
- Copies of syllabi and forms for any independent and directed studies courses without an official course description.

Expected Conferral Date	September 1	February 1	June 1
Date to submit to Department:	June 1	September 1	February 1
Completed ATC with all required signatures and attachments due to Graduate School	July 1	October 1	March 1

Qualifying Examinations (2 Credits)

The purpose of the qualifying examination (sometimes also referred to as preliminary or comprehensive examination) is to ensure that students have read broadly and deeply in the discipline and are prepared to begin dissertation research. For the *general* exam, students produce a list of no fewer than 75 plays, major

artists, historical theatrical events, performance companies, and production sites, ranging as widely as possible in geography and time. Students are encouraged to develop the list in consultation with faculty who will also likely serve on their dissertation committee. For the *area* exam, students compile a list of 25 key scholarly books related to their research interests (e.g., by geography, period, or theoretical approach). Up to five books might be substituted for relevant articles with three to five articles counting for each book. The student will also produce proposed exam questions in consultation with the major advisor. Students are thus encouraged to identify a major advisor (who will also direct the dissertation) during their third semester of coursework. This should allow the student time to prepare exam lists in consultation with their major advisor. The student may also request additional members for the exam committee from outside the department, if appropriate. This request must be approved by the DGS prior to approaching an external faculty member.

TIMELINE

By the end of the second year, students should have completed required coursework. In the third year, students register each semester for 1 credit of TH599: Independent Study in Supervised Reading with their major advisor. These 2 credits support exam preparation.

Students submit the general reading list for approval by the exam committee by **May 1 of their second year.** The exam committee may request revisions to the general exam list, and revisions should be approved by the major advisor before the faculty contract ends in spring. A finalized general reading list, area exam list, and the proposed area exam questions must be submitted **by October 15 of the student's third year.**

Written Essays

By the end of the semester prior to the exam, the student and committee set two written exam dates, approximately one week apart. **The student must complete the exam prior to spring break of the sixth semester.** On the first date, the student receives five essay questions related to the general reading list, of which three must be answered. The student may bring <u>notes</u> to the exam location and has six hours to respond to the three of the questions. It is highly recommended that the student spend no more than two hours on each question. On the second date, the student will receive a set of exam questions related to the student's proposed area of specialization. The number of questions may vary, and the student will have up 72 hours to submit the completed responses from a location of their choosing.

Oral Defense

An oral defense must occur within 10 academic days of the second exam date and is expected to last up to three hours. The purpose of the oral defense is to test if a student: has an adequate knowledge base in their area of specialization; is able to articulate complex concepts; and is able to engage in extemporaneous intellectual exchanges. Only the student, committee members, and the DGS (at their discretion) attend the defense. Defenses typically begin with an overview by the student of their essay responses. Committee members will pose follow-up questions and facilitate discussions to assess the student's knowledge and abilities. Students are encouraged to schedule a defense date early in the exam process that accounts for the larger university semester schedule.

Assessment of Qualifying Examination

Once all questions have been answered at the defense, the committee will assess the student's performance on the written and oral components of the exam and make a collective determination on each. This assessment and consequent recommendations will be provided in writing to the student as soon as possible. This may occur immediately after the defense and no later than two weeks after the oral defense date. The DGS is notified of the examination outcome and may request a copy of the written examination.

Each essay will be rated as: **pass with distinction**; **pass**; **marginal**; or **fail**. The oral defense will be evaluated as **pass** or **fail**. Based on these assessments, the following outcomes are possible:

- **Successful Completion.** This is predicated on the student passing the oral defense and each essay being designated as pass or pass with distinction. The student may advance to PhD candidacy upon submission of the *Application to Candidacy*.
- **Revision Required.** If the student passes the oral defense but one or two essays are considered marginal or failing, the student will have one opportunity to address the committee's concerns as per terms set by the committee. If corrections are accepted, the exam will be considered successfully completed. If corrections do not satisfy the committee, the exam will be designated as failed.
- Exam Failure. An exam is considered failed when one of the following occurs: the oral defense is failed (regardless of essay quality); half or more of the essays are considered marginal or failing; one or more questions on the written exam are considered incomplete. If an exam is failed, the student will have one opportunity to retake exams. At minimum, repeating exams requires new or substantially revised essay questions and an oral defense. The committee also may request revisions to literature tables.

In cases of exam failure, students will have one opportunity to retake exams. **Upon a second failed exam, the student will be dismissed from the program.** Students who violate standards of academic integrity are not entitled to a second examination opportunity.

Dissertation Guidance (4 Credits)

The completed dissertation must represent an original and publishable contribution to the knowledge in the candidate's field of study. It is expected that the dissertation will not only demonstrate expertise in the student's designated area, but also advance an original argument suitable for publication in the field.

Dissertation Committee

Students will have selected major professor (Dissertation Chair) prior to their qualifying exams. Thereafter, a committee, selected by the student with the approval of the Dissertation Chair and the DGS, oversees the remainder of the work toward dissertation completion. The committee must be comprised of

the major advisor/dissertation chair and at least two additional committee members, at least one of whom must be appointed in the Department of Theatre & Dance. All of the dissertation committee members must be members of the UB Graduate Faculty.

After a committee has been formed, the student will submit a dissertation prospectus to be approved by the dissertation committee and the DGS. This prospectus will outline the central research question, research plan, objective, methodology, preliminary biography, and proposed timeline for completion. Upon approval of the prospectus, the student may proceed with research.

Following the completion of the dissertation, an oral defense must be held. The Oral Defense is a public event scheduled by the department and is attended by the candidate's Dissertation Chair, graduate committee, members of the faculty from the department, and if required, an outside reader. Examination questions will focus on the arguments and implications of the dissertation. The defense should occur no later than six weeks prior to the UB Graduate School's deadline for submission of materials.

PHD. DISSERTATION GUIDELINES

Overview

This section describes the PhD Dissertation process. The dissertation is the final stage of the PhD program. It consists of a substantial research project designed and carried out by the student with the approval of, and in consultation with, the supervising committee. The subject of the dissertation will vary, but the expectations of quality are consistent. All dissertations must: build on existing knowledge; create an original argument consistent with current publications; include rigorous analysis of primary research materials; offer a compelling interpretation of these materials; possess critical depth; and be well-composed.

Dissertation Proposal

From the earliest stages of developing a dissertation research project, a student should work closely with committee members, especially the major advisor/chair. Prior to formally beginning the dissertation, the student must present their plans for the work to the committee. This involves the written dissertation proposal. The proposal has two purposes: 1) for the committee to vet the project's meaningfulness, originality, and feasibility within the proposed timeframe; and 2) for the committee and student to establish common expectations for the dissertation project and process (e.g., timetable, frequency of contact, structure).

The **written proposal's** format and content will be determined by the student's area of study and the preferences of the committee. At minimum, the proposal must include:

- Thorough, well-organized literature review of the substantive area and theoretical framework(s)
- Clearly defined central argument and/or research question
- Proposed structure, i.e., how many chapters are expected, what topics will be explored

- Proposed schedule for meeting project goals over the course of the dissertation including target date for the final defense; expectations for committee members' involvement (e.g., communication regarding drafts, review of research, etc.).
- Students are expected to defend their dissertation proposals by **October 1** of their fourth year (seventh semester). Dissertation proposals should be scheduled well in advance after the dissertation chair approves the circulation of the proposal, and proposals should be circulated at least 10 academic days prior to the defense.
- The committee makes one of the following determinations:
 - o **Pass, no revisions required.** The student may begin work on the dissertation.
 - Pass, contingent upon revisions. Revisions must be completed before
 dissertation research may proceed. The required revisions should be clearly
 communicated to the candidate and copied to the DGS, either in writing or email.
 The dissertation research may not begin until these revisions are received and
 approved by the committee.
 - Fail, with recommendation to re-submit. If a proposal is determined to be insufficient, it can be revised and/or a new version submitted to the committee. After the second "fail", the student will be dismissed from the program.

Dissertation Preparation and Defense

While preparing the dissertation, a student should:

- Refer to the Graduate School's <u>PhD Candidate Requirements</u> to ensure eligibility for degree conferral.
- Familiarize themself with the Graduate School's <u>Guidelines for Electronic Thesis/Dissertation</u>

 <u>Preparation and Submission</u>. It provides details regarding the dissertation's required format

 (e.g., reference styles, font, pagination), applicable copyright policies, and steps for final submission.
- Recall that the expectations and consequences set forth in the *Academic Integrity Agreement* form (signed and submitted prior to the qualifying exam) are applicable to the dissertation. Any violation of this may result in immediate dismissal from the program.
- Consult periodically with their committee as per the expectations set forth at the proposal defense.
- Set a mutually convenient defense date once the committee agrees there is sufficient evidence
 that the dissertation is nearing completion and that it will meet standards of accuracy, clarity,
 depth, and rigor.
- Submit a full and polished final version to the committee at least two weeks in advance of the defense.
- Inform the DGS and Graduate Program Administrator of the defense time and location.

Formatting

The PhD Dissertation should follow conventions and formats consistent with the discipline and agreed to by the student and the major advisor/chair. Generally, MLA or Chicago Manual of Style endnote citations are preferred. Specific guidelines from the UB Graduate School are outlined in the <u>Guidelines for Electronic Thesis/Dissertation Preparation and Submission</u>.

Oral Defense

A public oral defense of the dissertation is required for all students who complete a PhD dissertation. The oral defense is attended by the candidate's major advisor (committee chair), dissertation committee, and members of departmental faculty (as agreed to by the candidate and major advisor). The candidate has the prerogative to open the dissertation defense to a larger audience, but this is not required.

The oral defense consists of a brief presentation by the student followed by questions and comments from the committee. Alternative formats may be allowed at the discretion of the dissertation advisor/chair and in consultation with the committee members. The purpose of this defense is not, as the name may imply, to challenge the candidate's work, but to allow for an open review of the process. The terms set forth in the abstract should appropriately outline the goals for the project and set the parameters for the defense. Did the research unfold as anticipated? Were there new, unforeseen revelations or complications? This is a discussion to explore the various aspects of the project and to understand the dissertation as a process.

After the question and comment period, the committee confers privately to reach a determination on the status of the dissertation. The major advisor notes all feedback and recommendations and is responsible for providing the student with a written summary thereof following the defense. The student is then invited to rejoin the committee and is informed of the outcome, which may include:

- **Unconditional Pass.** No revisions needed. Committee members sign and submit the Multipurpose Form (M-Form) to the Director of Graduate Studies. The student may proceed to the final steps of degree conferral.
- **Conditional Pass.** The dissertation is passed contingent upon adequate revision. Committee members sign the M-Form. The student must make required revisions and obtain the approval of all committee members. The chair signs the M-Form again to attest that revisions have been approved by all committee members. Once the M-Form is received by the DGS, the student may proceed to the final steps of degree conferral.
- **Determination Postponed:** pending revision. Any committee member who feels that extensive revisions are required and that the dissertation is not passable—even on a contingent basis—in its current form may decline to sign the M-Form. In this case, the student must make revisions and submit these to the abstaining committee member(s) to obtain approval. Once the M-Form has been signed by all committee members and all final revisions have been accepted, the student may proceed to the final steps of degree conferral.

- **Determination Postponed:** pending revision & re-defense. If the dissertation and defense are considered inadequate, the committee may offer the student an opportunity to make substantial revisions and re-defend the dissertation. In such cases, a strict schedule for revision and re-defense must be established and communicated to the student. If the student does not meet the deadline for re-defense or is not passed upon re-defense, the student will be dismissed from the PhD Program.
- **Unconditional Fail.** If the committee reaches the unanimous conclusion that the dissertation's flaws are unresolvable and that the student's work is without merit, the dissertation is considered failed and the student will be dismissed from the PhD Program. There will be no opportunity for revision.

Multi-Purpose Form (M-Form)

The M-Form, which must be signed by the dissertation committee members, certifies completion of all degree requirements, including successful defense of the dissertation. It serves as the master control document ensuring a student's compliance with THD and the UB Graduate School requirements. Students should meet with their dissertation committee prior to the M-form submission date. Also, students should meet with the Graduate Program Administrator well ahead of time to ensure that courses, dissertation materials, and all paperwork are in order by the deadline.

Graduation Checklist

To graduate, the following must be on file in the Graduate School by the prescribed deadlines. In order to graduate, the following must be on file in the Graduate School an approved Application to Candidacy (with all necessary attachments)

- an M-Form (pdf)
- electronic submission of dissertation through the Graduate School's website at www.grad.buffalo.edu/Academics/ETD
- <u>Doctoral Degree Recipients Survey</u>

In addition, the Graduate School will verify satisfactory completion of all courses and minimum number of credits to be applied toward the degree.

Degree Conferral

The Graduate School confers degrees three times per year: February 1; June 1; and September 1. Refer to the Graduate School's details on <u>degree conferral deadlines and requirements</u> (also noted above under **ATC**). For September conferral, all materials (including defense) must be submitted by the Friday before classes begin in the fall term. In 2013, this date was August 16.

Participation in Commencement

Each May, the College of Arts & Sciences holds a commencement ceremony to acknowledge graduating students. This is only a ceremonial event; it is neither equivalent to degree conferral nor is participation required (though it can be very meaningful). Students who pass the oral defense at least two weeks before the graduate commencement date may participate in commencement even if revisions are not complete. Otherwise, students must wait until the next academic year's ceremony.

SECTION IV.

OPERATIONAL PROCEDURES & INFORMATION

Communication

The Department of Theatre & Dance and the University at Buffalo communicates regularly via email, and students are encouraged to check their buffalo.edu account regularly for updates and announcements. All communication will be sent to university accounts only. Other updates and announcements will also be found in the HUB Student Center, and in UBLearns for individual courses. Additional updates and information can be found on The Graduate School website (grad.buffalo.edu).

Copy Machine & Printers

The Department of Theatre & Dance has one copy machine located on the second floor of Alumni Arena. Graduate students may obtain a copy code from Kristin Mann in 285 Alumni Arena. This machine is for official school business only. Students are also encouraged to use the printers and copiers available in the University Libraries.

Library Privileges

All students of UB have access to the university libraries and the services they offer. For Theatre & Dance reference support:

Deb Chiarella

Arts & Sciences Libraries http://library.buffalo.edu dtc3@buffalo.edu

Mail

Faculty and staff mailboxes are located in 285 Alumni Arena. Mailboxes for the graduate students are located in the Graduate Student Lounge. Individuals are responsible for checking their mailboxes on a regular basis. Campus mail is for official university business mail only. The departmental mailing address is:

Department of Theatre & Dance

University at Buffalo 285 Alumni Arena Buffalo, NY 14260 Mail is delivered daily to the department from Campus Mail and as needed by UPS, FedEx, etc. The mail is sorted and placed in mailboxes as soon as possible after delivery. Large packages and deliveries made to the main office are held in the main office; please pick up any packages as soon as possible after notification of delivery.

Graduate Student Office

Graduate students with an assistantship have use of the Graduate Student Lounge for office hours and course preparation. All graduate students have access to the Graduate Student Lounge for study, meetings, and other activities related to your program. Students will have access to the office computers and printer.

The Graduate Student Office is a multi-purpose space; it is the responsible of all graduate students to maintain the cleanliness and order of the office, and to be respectful of all students and their belongings in the space. Any maintenance issues that arise should be brought to the attention of the Theatre & Dance main office staff immediately. The Graduate Student Office should remain locked when not in use.

OUTSIDE PRODUCTIONS/ACTIVITY

It is expected that Theatre & Performance Studies students will seek additional opportunities in their field of interest. Students are encouraged to contribute and participate in ways that are meaningful and beneficial.

Outside activity is defined as any private practice, production, artistic work, additional teaching or research, or other professional activity, compensated or uncompensated, which is not part of the students' assigned duties including classes and assistantships. Conflict of interest is defined as any conflict between the private interests of the student and the public interests of the university, including any activity that interferes with the full performance of institutional responsibilities or obligations. Conflicts of interest, including those arising from university or outside activities are prohibited.

While graduate students are expected and encouraged to seek outside opportunities, it is important to balance these opportunities within the curricular requirements of the Theatre & Performance Studies program. Students are advised to share their projects with their advisors, and to seek integration of their creative and research activity into their curriculum.

Outside production work can be announced via the graduate and departmental listservs and students are encouraged to invite faculty to attend performances and productions where appropriate. Please note that because of demanding and sometimes conflicting schedules, faculty may not be able to attend every production.

Funding and Material Support

Steig O. Olson Endowed Scholarship

All students admitted to graduate study in Theatre & Performance are eligible for a Steig O. Olson Scholarship. This scholarship is provided by an endowment generously donated by Steig O. Olson, class of 1948. This merit-based award is available to graduate students in Theatre on the basis of their potential as demonstrated in the application to enroll.

Tuition Waivers

CAS provides PhD students who receive a Teaching Assistantship with full tuition coverage. Once tuition credits are exhausted (past 72 credits, or 52 if a student transfers 30 credits from an MA), students are personally responsible for registration fees.

Graduate Assistantships

Assistantships may entail a wide range of duties and responsibilities, including research and teaching. Assignments are made by the DGS in consultation with graduate faculty and the Department Chair, and with consideration for student skills and interests. A Graduate Assistantship assignment is equal to 20 hours/week over the academic calendar year starting the week before classes begin and concluding at the end of the spring term. All aspects of the position (e.g., duties, timesheets, feedback) are overseen by the direct faculty supervisor and the DGS.

Outside Funding

Students are encouraged to seek out grants, fellowships, and scholarships to support academic study, conference travel, or research projects. Students not receiving teaching assistantships through the Department of Theatre and Dance are free to pursue paid positions through other units at UB (e.g., GA positions in the Gender Institute or the Humanities Institute). Students holding assistantships must obtain departmental permission for additional work acquired within the SUNY system.

APPENDIX A.

THESIS & DISSERTATION DEADLINES

The following are deadlines for each of the possible conferral dates. Students should discuss these deadlines with their advisors as soon as possible. Dates in **bold** are set by the Graduate School and are not negotiable. Failure to submit the necessary materials by the dates listed below may result in delayed graduation and additional enrollment costs. Students are required to maintain continuous enrollment to remain in good standing. This applies to fall and spring enrollment only. Summer term enrollment is not required unless the student intends to complete the thesis during the summer.

September 1 Conferral

This is the date necessary to complete the MA in 12 months. This schedule is desirable for students wishing to complete the program in the shortest time possible or who intend to enroll in other programs (PhD or MFA) for the following fall.

February 1: Select major advisor

• April 1: Confirm committee members

May: Complete coursework

• June 1: Submit final draft of thesis abstract

Submit signed ATC form to DGS (must include all required materials)

• July 1: Submit ATC to Graduate School

This is forwarded by the DGS. The form must be circulated through the Dean's office en route to the Grad School. Because of summer vacation schedules, it is essential that the ATC be submitted to the Department by June 1. Failure to do so may result in a delayed process and the need to register for additional thesis credits in the following semester.

August 1: Submit final thesis draft to advisor and committee

• August 1-10: Oral defense

August 15: Submit signed M-Form and all required materials to the

Grad School

This includes any required revisions and a properly formatted electronic submission of the thesis.

February 1 Conferral

• August 1: Confirm major advisor

Confirm committee members

It is recommended that the selection of advisor and committee members be completed by the end of the spring term, but any further changes should be confirmed by August 1 at the latest to adhere to a schedule for February 1 conferral. All required coursework should be completed by August 15.

August 15: Complete any outstanding coursework

• September 1: Submit final draft of thesis abstract

Submit signed ATC form to DGS (must include all required materials)

October 1: Submit ATC to Graduate School

This is forwarded by the DGS. The form must be circulated through the Dean's office en route to the Grad School. Because of summer vacation schedules, it is essential that the ATC be submitted to the Department by September 1. Failure to do so may result in a delayed process and the need to register for additional thesis credits in the following semester.

December 1: Submit final thesis draft to advisor and committee

• December 1-15: Oral defense

• January 9: Submit signed M-Form and all required

materials to the Grad School

This includes any required revisions and a properly formatted electronic submission of the thesis.

June 15 Conferral

December 1: Confirm major advisor
 Confirm committee member

It is recommended that the selection of advisor and committee members be completed as soon as possible in the fall term, but any further changes should be confirmed by December 1 at the latest to adhere to a schedule for June 15 conferral. All required coursework should be completed by December 15.

February 1: Submit final draft of thesis abstract

Submit signed ATC form to DGS (must include all required materials)

March 1: Submit ATC to Graduate School

This is forwarded by the DGS. The form must be circulated through the Dean's office en route to the Grad School. Because of summer vacation schedules, it is essential that the ATC be submitted to the Department by February 1. Failure to do so may result in a delayed process and the need to register for additional thesis credits in the following semester.

• April 1: Submit final thesis draft to advisor and committee

• May 1-15: Oral defense

May 21: Submit signed M-Form and all required

materials to the Grad School

This includes any required revisions and a properly formatted electronic submission of the thesis.

APPENDIX B.

MA CURRICULUM CHECKLIST

DEPARTMENT OF THEATRE & DANCE

MA in THEATRE & PERFORMANCE STUDIES Curriculum Checklist

This form should be completed in consultation with your advisor. A copy will be kept on file within the Department.

CORE SEMINARS (15 credits)

Course	Course Title	Credits	Semester	Grade	Requirement	Notes
TH 610	Performance Research	3			Core Seminar	
TH 620 OR Advanced Practice	Performance Scholarship	3			Core Seminar	
TH 670	Performance Historiography	3			Core Seminar	
TH 540 OR DAC 582	Graduate Studio OR Embodied Research	3			Core Seminar	
DAC 513	Graduate Professionalization Seminar	3			Core Seminar	
Total		15				

ADDITIONAL SEMINARS (9 credits)

Course	Course Title	Credits	Semester	Grade	Requirement	Notes

Total			

MASTERS THESIS/MASTERS PROJECT (6 credits)

Course	Course Title	Credits	Semester	Grade	Requirement	Notes
Total						

ADVISEMENT CHECKLIST

	Dept.	Dept.	Graduate	Graduate	Notes
	Rec'd	Approved	School Sent	School	
				Approved	
Signed Acceptance Letter					
Official Transcripts Received					
Initial Advising					
1st Semester Registration					
1st Semester Advising					
1st Semester Review					
2 nd Registration					
Abstract Proposal					
2 nd Semester Advising					
2 nd Semester Review					
3 rd Semester Registration					

ATC				
Thesis Advisement Meetings				
Defense/Presentation				
M-Form				
Electronic Submission of				
Thesis				
Exit Survey				
	ADV	ISING NOTES		
Date				

APPENDIX C.

PHD. CURRICULUM CHECKLIST

DEPARTMENT OF THEATRE & DANCE

PhD in THEATRE & PERFORMANCE STUDIES Curriculum Checklist

This form should be completed in consultation with your advisor. A copy will be kept on file within the Department.

CORE SEMINARS (15 credits)

Course	Course Title	Credits	Semester	Grade	Requirement	Notes
TH 610	Performance Research	3			Core Seminar	
TH 620	Performance Scholarship	3			Core Seminar	
TH 670	Performance Historiography	3			Core Seminar	
TH 540	Graduate Studio	3			Core Seminar	
DAC	Graduate	3			Core Seminar	
513	Professionalization Seminar					
Total		15				

PERFORMANCE SEMINARS (51 credits, normatively 21 credits following credit transfer)

Course	Course Title	Credits	Semester	Grade	Notes
		3			
		3			
		3			
		3			
Total		21			

$\textbf{FOREIGN LANGUAGE REQUIREMENT} \ \textit{Two semesters or demonstrated competency in translation}.$

Language credits do not count toward total credit hours required.

Course Title	Credits	Semester	Grade	Requirement	Notes
	Course Title	Course Title Credits	Course Title Credits Semester	Course Title Credits Semester Grade	Course Title Credits Semester Grade Requirement

QUALIFYING EXAMS (2 credits)

Course	Course Title	Credits	Semester	Grade	Requirement	Notes
ТН599	Independent Study in Supervised Reading	1				
TH599	Independent Study in Supervised Reading	1				
Total						

DISSERTATION CREDITS (4 credits)

Course	Course Title	Credits	Semester	Grade	Requirement	Notes
TH 700	Dissertation Guidance	1				
TH 700	Dissertation Guidance	1				
TH 700	Dissertation Guidance	1				
TH 700	Dissertation Guidance	1				
Total						

TOTAL CREDITS		

ADVISEMENT CHECKLIST

	Dept. Rec'd	Dept. Approved	Graduate School Sent	Graduate School Approved	Notes
Signed Acceptance Letter					
Signed TA Offer Letter					
Official Transcripts Received					
Initial Advising					
Transfer Course Petition					
Foreign Language Req.					
1 st Semester Registration					
1st Semester Advising					
2 nd Semester Registration					
2 nd Semester Advising					
Year 1 Review					
3 rd Semester Registration					
3 rd Semester Advising					
4 th Semester Registration					
4 th Semester Advising					
Year 2 Review					
Responsible Conduct of Research Training					
Comp Exam Chair					
General Exam Reading List					
Area Exam Reading List					
Dissertation Chair					
Dissertation Committee					
ATC					

5 th Semester Registration					
5 th Semester Advising					
General Comp Exam					
Area Comp Exam					
Oral Exam					
6th Semester Registration					
6 th Semester Advising					
Year 3 Review					
7 th Semester Registration					
7 th Semester Advising					
8th Semester Registration					
8th Semester Advising					
Year 4 Review					
9th Semester Registration					
9th Semester Advising					
10 th Semester Registration					
10 th Semester Advising					
Dissertation Defense					
M-Form					
Doctoral Degree Recipients					
Survey (online)					
Electronic Submission of Thesis					
Exit Survey					
	1	ADV	ISING NOTES	,	
Date					